FILED 05-11-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2021AP943-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

HAJJI Y. MCREYNOLDS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5176 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

Mr. McReynolds was convicted at a jury trial of two counts of delivery of less than one gram of cocaine. The deliveries were alleged to have occurred during controlled buys involving a confidential informant. During trial, an investigator testified that he believed the informant had been truthful. Also, at trial, the informant testified that Mr. McReynolds was affiliated with a street gang. At sentencing, the circuit court declined to state the reasons for its sentence in open court, instead choosing to file a written decision at a later date, in reliance on Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)b. ¹

1. This Court should grant review to consider whether Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)b. is unconstitutional as applied to Mr. McReynolds because use of the statutory procedure violated his right to be present at sentencing and right to a public trial.

The postconviction court² determined that the sentencing court had not erroneously exercised discretion by using the statute, but did not reach

¹ Section 973.017(10m)b. states: "[i]f the court determines that it is not in the interest of the defendant for it to state the reasons for its sentencing decision in the defendant's presence, the court shall state the reasons for its sentencing decision in writing and include the written statement in the record."

² A different judge presided over postconviction proceedings than at sentencing.

Mr. McReynolds' arguments about the statute's constitutionality. (R.305:4; App. 41).

The court of appeals held that Mr. McReynolds' right to be present was limited to the announcement of the "sentencing decision," not "the pronouncement of 'the reasons for its sentencing decision." *State v. Hajji Y. McReynolds*, No. 2021AP943-CR slip op., ¶60 (Wis. Ct. App. April 12, 2011) (recommended for publication). (App. 30-31). It held that Mr. McReynolds forfeited his public-trial claim by not objecting at the sentencing hearing. (*Id.*, ¶¶46-51; App. 24-26).

2. This Court should grant review to resolve tension in the caselaw, and clarify whether there is an exception to the *Haseltine*³ vouching rule for law enforcement officers testifying about their investigations.

The circuit court concluded that the investigator's testimony was not a vouching violation because it was introduced to explain the correctness of the investigative procedure. (R.305:10-12; App. 47-49).

The court of appeals held that the statements "were not offered to bolster the informant's credibility; instead, they were offered to explain the course of events during the interrogation." (*McReynolds*, slip op., ¶32; App. 19).

 $^{^3}$ State v. Haseltine, 120 Wis. 2d 92, 96, 352 N.W.2d 673 (Ct. App. 1984) (no witness may give an opinion that another witness is telling the truth).

3. If the Court grants review it should hold that trial counsel's failure to object to the vouching testimony and testimony about alleged gang affiliation was prejudicial and grant Mr. McReynolds a *Machner*⁴ hearing to complete his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

The circuit court did not permit trial counsel to testify, but determined that the alleged vouching was not objectionable. (R.305:10-12; App. 47-49). It ruled that the gang testimony was improper, but that defense counsel's failure to object was not deficient or prejudicial. (R.305:19-20; App. 56-57).

The court of appeals affirmed both rulings. (McReynolds, slip op., ¶¶32, 41; App. 19, 22).

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

Mr. McReynolds' case is the first appellate case applying Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)b., and the decision is recommended for publication. This statute permits the court to place the reasons for its sentencing decision in writing, rather than in court at the time of the sentencing hearing. Whether this violates a defendant's constitutional rights is "an issue of first impression" in Wisconsin. (*McReynolds*, slip op., ¶56; App. 28). Mr. McReynolds argues that the statute, as

⁴ A defendant must call trial counsel at a hearing to give them the opportunity to respond to ineffectiveness claims. *State v. Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905.

Case 2021AP000943 Petition for Review Filed 05-11-2022 Page 7 of 32

applied to him, violated his constitutional rights to be present at sentencing and to a public trial. This Court should grant review to consider these important questions of constitutional law, the resolution of which will have statewide impact. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 809.62(1r)(a) and (c).

A defendant has a constitutional right to be present at their sentencing hearing. State v. Perez, 170 Wis. 2d 130, 138, 487 N.W.2d 630 (Ct. App. 1992). The court of appeals concluded that, although there is a right to be present at sentencing, this does not include a right to be present during the explanation for the sentence. (McReynolds, slip op., ¶¶59-60; App. 30-31). Instead, the court of appeals held that a court's "sentencing decision" and the court's "reasons for its sentencing decision" are "distinct events" and the right to be present only applies to the former. (McReynolds, slip op., ¶60; App. 30-31). This Court should reject the purported distinction. The reasons for a sentence are intrinsic to the sentencing decision.

In addition, a defendant has a constitutional right to a public trial, which extends to the sentencing hearing. See Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 212 (2010). The court of appeals declined to address this concluding it was forfeited claim. because Mr. McReynolds did not object at his sentencing hearing. (McReynolds, slip op., $\P\P47-51$; App. 30-31). This conclusion is erroneous. Mr. McReynolds properly preserved the claim by raising it in a postconviction motion. In addition, forfeiture is a rule of judicial administration, and it will serve the interests of Case 2021AP000943 Petition for Review Filed 05-11-2022 Page 8 of 32

fairness, efficiency, and the orderly administration of justice for this Court to decide both claims about the constitutionality of the statute instead of leaving the door open to a future public-trial claim. *See State v. Coffee*, 2020 WI 1, ¶19, 389 Wis. 2d 627, 937 N.W.2d 579 (discussing the interests served by the forfeiture rule).

This Court should also grant review to resolve tension in the case law regarding whether a police officer may testify to their belief in a witness's truthfulness without violating the vouching rule, where the asserted purpose of the testimony is to explain the course of the investigation. The court of appeals approved of such testimony in *State v. Smith*⁵ and *State v. Snider*, ⁶ but held it inadmissible in *State v. Patterson*. In Mr. McReynolds' case, the court of appeals relied on *Smith* and *Snider*, and disregarded *Patterson*. (*McReynolds*, slip op., ¶¶28-35; App. 17-21) Clarification and harmonization is needed. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)3 (a decision will help clarify and harmonize a question of law that is likely to recur unless resolved).

Finally, if the Court grants review it should hold that Mr. McReynolds was prejudiced by his attorney's failure to object to the vouching testimony and

 $^5\,State\,v.\,Smith,\,170\,{\rm Wis.2d}\,\,701,\,490\,{\rm N.W.2d}\,\,40\,({\rm Ct.\,App.}\,1992).$

 $^{^6}$ $State\ v.\ Snider,\ 2003$ WI App 172, 266 Wis. 2d 830, 668 N.W.2d 784.

⁷ State v. Patterson, 2009 WI App 161, 321 Wis. 2d 752, 776 N.W.2d 602.

Case 2021AP000943 Petition for Review Filed 05-11-2022 Page 9 of 32

improper testimony that Mr. McReynolds was allegedly affiliated with a gang, and should remand for a *Machner* hearing so that he may complete his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. McReynolds was convicted at a jury trial of two counts of delivery of less than one gram of cocaine. The witnesses at trial included law enforcement officers and a confidential informant. Investigator Aaron Ranallo testified that the informant contacted him, claiming that Mr. McReynolds was selling cocaine, and volunteering to participate in a controlled buy. (R.295:14). Ultimately, two alleged buys took place, a week apart.

Investigator Ranallo testified that, before the alleged buys, police checked the informant's pockets and patted him down. (R.295:42, R.297:5). They gave him \$150 in prerecorded cash and outfitted him with a body wire and video recording device. (R.295:17: R.296:47). Both times, the informant made a phone call and claimed it was to Mr. McReynolds, but police did not listen in on the calls. (R.295:19; R.296:24-25). After each of the alleged buys, the informant turned over cocaine. which he said he from got Mr. McReynolds. After each alleged buy, informant was paid \$100 for his services. (R.295:28). Police did not recover the prerecorded cash after either alleged buy. (R.295:26).

Case 2021AP000943 Petition for Review Filed 05-11-2022 Page 10 of 32

Investigator Ranallo testified that for the first buy, the informant was dropped off near a gas station. (R.295:18). Police saw him walk toward the gas station, but then lost sight of him. (R.295:19-20). A few minutes later they saw him and Mr. McReynolds walking together and parting ways. (R.295:22). The prosecutor played a clip of the alleged buy. (R.72. R.296:14). Nothing was visible because the informant had the camera in the palm of his hand. (R.296:19).

Investigator Ranallo wrote a statement provided to him by the informant. (R.296:25; R.73). The prosecutor asked the investigator to read the statement aloud to the jury. In the statement, the informant asserted that he called Mr. McReynolds to set up a meeting, then met with him on the sidewalk and did a drug exchange. The prosecutor asked Investigator Ranallo, "so do you believe this to be a truthful and accurate statement?" and he responded "Yes, I do." (R.296:42). The prosecutor asked, "[a]nd do you have any reason to believe that [the informant] was in any way untruthful with respect to the you?" information he provided to and Investigator Ranallo responded, "[n]o." Id. Later during the examination, Investigator Ranallo testified that he was "not given any information to lead [him] to believe that he [informant] was not being truthful." (R.296:45).

The informant testified that his relationship with Mr. McReynolds was "fair," but also admitted that he owed Mr. McReynolds' friend money, and that he was in a physical altercation with Mr. McReynolds

Case 2021AP000943 Petition for Review Filed 05-11-2022 Page 11 of 32

about the debt sometime between the first alleged buy and the second. (R.295:48, R.296:29). The prosecutor asked who he was indebted to, and the informant said "KG." (R.296:30). The prosecutor asked "who is KG," and the informant responded that he was one of Mr. McReynolds' "Vice Lord friends." (R.296:30).

During the second alleged buy, Investigator Ranallo again lost sight of the informant "for some time" both before and after the meeting. (R.298:21). He testified that it was possible that the informant picked up drugs somewhere along the way. (R.298:21, 23). A clip was played for the jury. (R.298:14; R.72). It showed Mr. McReynolds reaching back from the front seat of a car to the back seat. (R.72: 28 mins, 39 sec.; R.298:19). No exchange is visible.

Investigator Ranallo again wrote a statement provided to him by the informant. (R.74). In the statement, the informant asserted that he called Mr. McReynolds, set up a meeting, and met him in the park. They got into a car and he gave Mr. McReynolds money in exchange for drugs. The prosecutor asked Investigator Ranallo to read the statement aloud. (R.298:17). The prosecutor then asked, "[d]o you have any reason to believe that [the informant] was in any way untruthful about his observations that day?" and Investigator Ranallo answered, "[n]o." (R.298:18).

The informant testified that his motivation for offering to do the second buy was that he was "mad" at Mr. McReynolds about the fight. (R.297:13). He also testified that the money he earned from the buys was

Case 2021AP000943 Petition for Review Filed 05-11-2022 Page 12 of 32

a "real incentive." (R.297:41). The informant testified that KG was present at the second alleged buy. The prosecutor asked, "who is KG" and the informant answered it was Mr. McReynolds' "Vice Lord brother." (R.297:18). The informant testified that he had previously been convicted of a crime ten times. (R.295:47). He was a drug user, but testified that he was recently in recovery. *Id.* Investigator Ranallo testified that the informant would not have received the \$100 had he not provided statements. (R.298:22).

Mr. McReynolds was convicted, and on July 27, 2015, the court held a sentencing hearing. (R.300; App. 74-119). The court heard the arguments of the parties and gave Mr. McReynolds the opportunity for allocution. (R.300:10-36; App. 83-109). The court stated that its sentence was five years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision on each count, concurrent. (R.300:42; App.115).

However, the circuit court did not state the reasons for the sentence in open court. Instead, it invoked Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)(b), and said it would state its reasons in writing at a later date.

I've never done that before, but I'm going to do it here today, and the reason for that is, Mr. McReynolds, really, as a courtesy to you, and I mean this sincerely, as a courtesy to you. I don't want to go through the long and ponderous explanation that I'm going to make in -- in writing because I just think that you may consider it demeaning and insulting. I don't want you to feel

Case 2021AP000943 Petition for Review Filed 05-11-2022 Page 13 of 32

demeaned. I don't want you to feel insulted. I don't want you feel lectured to.

(R.300:40-41; App.113-14).

The circuit court noted that Mr. McReynolds had previously refused to come to court on two occasions, and had been disruptive in the courtroom on the morning of trial before the trial began. The court stated: "You ultimately did cooperate, but, really, I think that it is not in your interest for me to go through the long analysis that I am going to do in writing." (R.300:41; App.114). A judgment of conviction was entered on July 27, 2015. (R.105). Three days later, the court filed a document titled "written reasons for sentencing decision." (R.108:1-11; App.63-73).

Mr. McReynolds filed a postconviction motion requesting a new trial and sentencing hearing. (R.227). Grounds for a new trial were: (1) the improper prosecutor elicited testimony Investigator Ranallo that he believed the informant was truthful; and (2) the prosecutor elicited improper testimony from the informant that Mr. McReynolds was associated with the Vice Lord gang. (R.227:2-6). Mr. McReynolds alleged ineffective assistance of counsel for not objecting. (R.227:6). Mr. McReynolds also argued for resentencing based on the court's failure to explain his sentence in open court. He argued that Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)b. was unconstitutional as applied to him because it violated his rights to be present at sentencing and to a public trial. (R.227:9).

Case 2021AP000943 Petition for Review Filed 05-11-2022 Page 14 of 32

On May 14, 2021, the circuit court held a hearing on the motion. (R.305:1-25; App.38-62). At the outset, the court denied the State's request to deny the motion on the basis that Mr. McReynolds had filed a prior postconviction motion. (R.305:3-4; App.40-41). See State v. Escalona-Naranjo, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994). The court proceeded to deny the motion on the merits. First, the court determined that the sentencing court met the statutory requirements for utilizing Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)b. and "laid out all of the reasons he decided to hear argument and then give a written decision on sentencing." (R.305:4; App. 41). The court did not address Mr. McReynolds' constitutional claims.

Next, the court considered Mr. McReynolds' claims for a new trial. The circuit court ruled that Investigator Ranallo's testimony was not vouching. Instead, the questions and answers involved the inquiry of "did you have any reason to suspect that the [investigative] procedure wasn't followed correctly," rather than, "is this informant a truthful person." (R.305:10-12; App. 47-49). Finally, the court agreed that the Vice Lord evidence was improper and stated that the prosecutor should have prepared her witness or taken corrective action once the first reference had been made. (R.305:19-20; App. 56-57). However, it did "not appear to be the case" that it "tip[ped] the scales to the extent that would necessitate a new trial." (R.305:20; App. 57). The court did not permit Mr. McReynolds to call trial counsel as a witness for his ineffectiveness claim. (R.305:12; App.49). The Case 2021AP000943 Petition for Review Filed 05-11-2022 Page 15 of 32

court entered a written order affirming its oral ruling. (R.264; App. 37).

The court of appeals affirmed. First, it denied the State's claim that Mr. McReynolds' appeal was procedurally barred. ((McReynolds, slip op., ¶¶16-20; App. 30-31). Under the "unique facts of the case," and because the case was still on direct appeal, it was not subject to the Escalona-Naranjo, 185 Wis. 2d 168, bar on successive postconviction motions. (Id., ¶18; App.12).

As to the new trial claims, the court of appeals first concluded that the investigator's testimony "did not constitute impermissible vouching testimony," but rather, the statements were "offered to explain the course of events during the interrogation." (*Id.*, ¶32; App. 19). Next, it assumed without deciding that trial counsel was deficient for not objecting to the gang testimony, but held that Mr. McReynolds was not prejudiced by the testimony. (*Id.*, ¶¶41-42; App.22-23).

As to the sentencing claims, the court of appeals held that Mr. McReynolds forfeited his claim that Wis. Stat. § 973.107(10m)b. violated his right to a public trial because he did not object at the sentencing hearing. (Id., \P 46-51; App.24-25). Finally, it held that the statutory procedure did not violate Mr. McReynolds' right to be present at sentencing because he was present when the court announced the "sentencing decision," and he did not have a right to be present for "the pronouncement of the reasons for [the court's] sentencing decision." (Id., ¶60; App.30-31).

Case 2021AP000943 Petition for Review Filed 05-11-2022 Page 16 of 32

ARGUMENT

I. This Court should grant review to determine whether Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m), which permits a court to state the reasons for its sentence in writing \mathbf{of} instead in open court, violated Mr. McReynolds right to be present at sentencing and right to a public trial.

A. Applicable statutes.

Under Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)a. the circuit court "shall state the reasons for its sentencing decision and, except as provided in par. (b), shall do so in open court and on the record."

Under Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)b., the court may deviate from that requirement as follows:

If the court determines that it is not in the interest of the defendant for it to state the reasons for its sentencing decision in the defendant's presence, the court shall state the reasons for its sentencing decision in writing and include the written statement in the record.

Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)a.

The court of appeals also relied on the definition of "sentencing decision" in the statute, which is:

'Sentencing decision' means a decision as to whether to impose a bifurcated sentence under s. 973.01 or place a person on probation and a decision as to the length of a bifurcated sentence, Case 2021AP000943 Petition for Review Filed 05-11-2022 Page 17 of 32

including the length of each component of the bifurcated sentence, the amount of a fine, and the length of a term of probation.

Wis. Stat. § 973.017(1).

B. Standard of review.

There are two types of constitutional challenges: facial and as-applied. *Michels v. Lyons*, 2019 WI 57, ¶11, 387 Wis. 2d 1, 927 N.W.2d 486. In a facial challenge, the party must show that the law cannot be constitutionally enforced under any circumstances. *Id.*, ¶18. In an as-applied challenge, the challenging party succeeds if they show that their rights were violated under the facts of their case. *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶13, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63. The party must prove that the statute has been applied in an unconstitutional manner beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*, ¶15. The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law, reviewed by this Court de novo. *Id.*

- C. Wisconsin Statute § 973.017(10m)b. is unconstitutional as applied to Mr. McReynolds.
 - 1. The circuit court's use of the statutory procedure violated Mr. McReynolds' right to be present at sentencing.

A defendant is guaranteed the right to be present at any stage of the criminal proceeding that is critical to its outcome. *Kentucky v. Stincer*,

Case 2021AP000943 Petition for Review Filed 05-11-2022 Page 18 of 32

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