Filed 05-23-2022

FILED 05-23-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2021AP943-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

HAJJI Y. MCREYNOLDS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

#### **RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KIERAN M. O'DAY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1113772

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2065 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) odaykm@doj.state.wi.us

The State opposes Hajji Y. McReynolds' petition for review. In an opinion recommended for publication, the court of appeals applied the correct principles of law and standards of review when it affirmed the circuit court's decision and order denying McReynolds' postconviction motion. State v. McReynolds, No. 2021AP943-CR, slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. April 12, 2022). (Pet-App. 3-36.) McReynolds' petition does not present any special or compelling reason for this Court to disturb the court of appeals' decision in this case. The court of appeals dutifully applied both well-settled precedent and well-settled principles of statutory interpretation to various arguments. McRevnolds McRevnolds' merely disagrees with the court of appeals, but his disagreement alone does not warrant this Court's review.

# THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW BECAUSE IT DOES NOT SATISFY THE CRITERIA IN WIS. STAT. § (RULE) 809.62(1R).

This Court should deny McReynolds' petition for review. McReynolds was convicted of two counts of delivery of a controlled substance after a jury trial. He filed a postconviction motion<sup>1</sup> seeking a new trial and, in the alternative, resentencing. McReynolds alleged that he was entitled to a new trial because he received ineffective assistance of counsel when his trial attorney (1) did not object to alleged vouching testimony by Investigator Ranallo and (2) did not object to alleged character evidence by way of the confidential informant's reference to McReynolds being in the Vice Lords gang. McReynolds alleged he was entitled to resentencing because the circuit court violated his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Should this Court accept review of this case, the State maintains that McReynolds' current postconviction motion and appeal is procedurally barred by both *State v. Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994), and *State v. Tillman*, 2005 WI App 71, 281 Wis. 2d 157, 696 N.W.2d 574.

constitutional right to be present at sentencing and his right to a public trial. The foundation for McReynolds' constitutional arguments was the circuit court's invocation of Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)(b), which provides: "If the court determines that it is not in the interest of the defendant for it to state the reasons for its sentencing decision in the defendant's presence, the court shall state the reasons for its sentencing decision in writing and include the written statement in the record." After a non-testimonial hearing, the circuit court denied McReynolds' motion in its entirety.

## A. The court of appeals properly interpreted Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)(b).

McReynolds' first argument falls flat for the simple reason that Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)(b) is clear, unambiguous, and had no effect on his constitutional rights to be present at sentencing and to a public trial.<sup>2</sup> State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty., 2004 WI 58, ¶¶ 45-46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 ("[S]tatutory interpretation 'begins with the language of the statute. If the meaning of the statute is plain, we ordinarily stop the inquiry.""). McReynolds' entire argument is based on the flawed premise that a circuit court's invocation of paragraph (b) somehow does away with a circuit court's exercise of discretion at sentencing. But the court of appeals rejected that argument, and the plain language of paragraph (b) confirms the argument is wrong.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The court of appeals correctly decided that McReynolds' forfeited any challenge to his right to a public trial under *State v. Pinno*, 2014 WI 74, ¶ 61, 356 Wis. 2d 106, 850 N.W.2d 207 (explicitly applying forfeiture to the right to a public trial). However, even if this Court were to overlook McReynolds' obvious forfeiture on this issue, the court of appeals' overall reasoning and interpretation of the statute applies to the public trial issue with equal force.

At no point has the State disagreed with McReynolds' basic premise that "[t]he reasons for a sentence are intrinsic to the sentencing decision." (Pet. 7.) But McReynolds' argument goes too far and ignores that the statute "in no way dispenses with the requirement that the circuit court explain its reasons for its sentencing decision on the record."3 also Wis. McRevnolds. slip op., **¶ 63**: see Stat. § 973.017(10m)(b) ("... the court *shall* state the reasons for its sentencing decision in writing and include the written statement in the record."). When correctly interpreted, the statute has no effect on any of the rights afforded to defendants at sentencing nor does it meaningfully "close" the courtroom to be a violation of the right to a public trial. The statute is nothing more than a limited procedural mechanism for a circuit court to exercise its ordinary sentencing discretion in a manner the court feels would be more beneficial to an individual defendant. McReynolds, slip op., ¶ 63.

Contrary to McReynolds' position, which undermines the context, scheme, and plain language of the statute, the court of appeals applied well-settled principles of statutory interpretation to Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)(b). The court aptly assessed the plain meaning of the statute, the context of the statutory scheme and the definition of "sentencing decision" to conclude that "a circuit court's 'sentencing decision' and the pronouncement of 'the reasons for its sentencing decision' are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Under State v. Gallion 2004 WI 42, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197, it is certainly possible that a circuit court could erroneously exercise its discretion when it places its sentencing reasons in writing under Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)(b) in the same way a circuit court could erroneously exercise its discretion when it provides the reasons for its sentencing decision in open court. However, McReynolds has not advanced any argument that that occurred here.

distinct events." *McReynolds*, slip op., ¶¶ 55–60.<sup>4</sup> And, while the interpretation of this statute is a matter of first impression, the plain language confirms that the court of appeals' interpretation is the only one that gives full effect to the words chosen by the legislature. *See Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46 ("Statutory language is read where possible to give reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage.")

McReynolds' proffered interpretation, on the other hand, would read words into the statute that do not exist and would otherwise render paragraph (b) meaningless—both of which are contrary to this Court's long-standing principles of interpretation. See Jefferson v. Dane Cnty., 2020 WI 90, ¶ 25, 394 Wis. 2d 602, 951 N.W.2d 556 (this Court "will not add words into a statute that the legislature did not see fit to employ"); see also Salachna v. Edgebrook Radiology, 2021 WI App 76, ¶ 19, 399 Wis. 2d 759, 966 N.W. 2d 923 ("[I]t is wellestablished that statutory interpretations that render provisions meaningless should be avoided.").

As a final point, while McReynolds argues that his petition presents a question of statewide impact, (Pet. 7), it has become clear throughout this litigation that Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)(b) is rarely used. The circuit court acknowledged that it was the first time it had ever invoked the statute, and the court of appeals noted that its use "is not a common practice." *McReynolds*, slip op., ¶¶ 11, 70 n.22. The court of appeals was careful to clarify that its decision "should not be read as endorsing the use of the procedure, especially

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> McReynolds' admonition of the court of appeals' use of other statutory and dictionary definitions to reach its result does not merit a response. This Court and the court of appeals have long looked to dictionary definitions to inform plain meaning statutory analyses. See, e.g., State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty., 2004 WI 58, ¶¶ 53-54, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110.

if a defendant affirmatively balks at the use of the procedure." Id. ¶ 70 n.22. This is a limited, narrow, and rarely used statute; accordingly, its "statewide impact" is of limited effect and does not warrant this Court's review. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2.

\*\*\*\*

When correctly interpreted, it is clear that Wis. Stat. § 973.017(10m)(b) had no effect on McReynolds' constitutional rights. McReynolds received the rights afforded to defendants at sentencing and received a public trial, and the circuit court's invocation of section 973.017(10m)(b) did not change that. In turn, there is no question of state or federal constitutional law that this Court needs to resolve. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a). Moreover, the court of appeals correctly rejected McReynolds' atextual interpretation of the statute. Because the court of appeals correctly interpreted the statute, there is no need for this Court to further "develop [or] clarify . . . the law." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c). Therefore, McReynolds' first issue falls short of meeting the criteria for this Court's review.

## B. There is no conflict between Snider, Smith, and Patterson that would warrant this Court's review.

McReynolds next argues that this Court should accept review in order to "resolve tension in the case law regarding whether a police officer may testify to their belief in a witness's truthfulness without violating the vouching rule, where the asserted purpose of the testimony is to explain the course of the investigation." (Pet. 8.) Contrary to McReynolds' argument, no such "tension" exists, and there is no need for this Court to clarify or harmonize the law. State v. Haseltine precludes witnesses from "giv[ing] an opinion that another mentally and physically competent witness is telling the truth." 120 Wis. 2d 92, 96, 352 N.W.2d 673 (1984). Haseltine's rule sought to prevent interference with the jury's role as "the lie detector in the courtroom." Id. (citation omitted). However, State v. Smith, 170 Wis. 2d 701, 718–19, 490 N.W.2d 40 (Ct. App. 1992), and State v. Snider, 2003 WI App 172, ¶¶ 25–27, 266 Wis. 2d 830, 668 N.W.2d 784, both stand for the proposition that testimony does not run afoul of the Haseltine rule if the purpose and effect of the testimony is to describe an officer's beliefs during an investigation and not to bolster another witnesses' credibility. McReynolds, slip op. ¶ 32.

In State v. Patterson, the court of appeals assumed that there was a Haseltine violation when the prosecutor "asked a police investigator: 'Do you believe [a witness the investigator interviewed] was being truthful when she gave [certain] information to you . . . ?" 2009 WI App 161, ¶ 36, 321 Wis. 2d 752, 776 N.W.2d 602 (alterations in original). McReynolds contends that his "case is like Patterson," and that Patterson conflicts with Smith and Snider such that this Court's review is necessary. (Pet. 27–28.) McReynolds' argument fails (1) because Patterson assumed there was a Haseltine violation, it did not hold as such and (2) because whether testimony violates Haseltine is fact-dependent based on the purpose and effect of the testimony in any individual case.

The Patterson "holding" that McReynolds attaches to is not a holding at all. Rather, while reviewing a denial of a mistrial, the court of appeals assumed that there was a Haseltine violation and held that that single assumed violation did not infect the trial with unfairness. Patterson, 321 Wis. 2d 752, ¶¶ 36-37. The court of appeals did not definitively hold that a Haseltine violation had occurred. This makes sense because "even if a Haseltine violation occurred, it is only reversible error where the testimony 'creates too great a possibility that the jury abdicated its fact-finding role' in relation to the witness or failed independently to find the defendant's guilt." *McReynolds*, slip op., ¶ 24 (citation omitted).

So, like a court assuming without deciding that there was deficient performance in order to reject an ineffective assistance claim on the prejudice prong, see id. ¶ 41 (assuming without deciding that McReynolds' counsel performed deficiently for failing to object to the character evidence but rejecting the ineffective assistance claim on prejudice), the court of appeals in *Patterson* assumed a *Haseltine* violation to reject the argument on different grounds. Patterson, 321 Wis. 2d 752 ¶ 36; see also State v. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, ¶¶ 3, 10, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598 (not resolving the first issue and assuming without deciding there was a seizure not justified by reasonable suspicion or probable cause but deciding the case on the other two prongs of the community caretaker test). Because the court of appeals did not ultimately resolve the issue of whether a *Haseltine* violation occurred, but rather assumed one to move to the ultimate inquiry of unfairness, there is no rule from Patterson that could conflict with Smith or Snider. In turn, McReynolds' reliance on *Patterson* is misplaced, and there is no need for this Court to clarify or harmonize the law. Rather, as discussed below, the law is clear, and the cases can live in harmony with each other.

As the court of appeals correctly noted in this case, "[t]o determine whether a witness's testimony violates *Haseltine*, we examine the testimony's purpose and effect." *McReynolds*, slip op., ¶ 24. This is a fact-dependent inquiry that will necessarily turn on the context of the testimony in an individual case. To that end, the court of appeals held that the facts of this case were more like *Smith* and *Snider* where the purpose and effect of the testimony was to describe the development and continuation of the investigation and less

8

like *Patterson* where the court of appeals reasoned that "[i]t does not appear that this exchange was offered for any purpose other than bolstering the credibility of the other witness." *Patterson*, 321 Wis. 2d 752, ¶ 36. The different facts of the different cases simply counseled different results—that is bound to happen, and that occurrence does not create tension or a conflict that would warrant this Court's review.

Finally, even if this Court were to accept McReynolds' argument, he would not be entitled to relief. McReynolds' Haseltine argument arises in the context of ineffective assistance of counsel. Under that rubric, counsel cannot perform deficiently for failing to raise an argument in an area where the law is unsettled. State v. Breitzman, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 49, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93. Accepting McReynolds' argument that there is a "tension" or a "conflict" between Haseltine's progeny means acknowledging that the law is unsettled. See id. ¶ 56 ("This body of case law does not promulgate a clear standard . . . ."). Because the law is unsettled under McReynolds' framework, McReynolds' trial counsel could not have performed deficiently, and this Court would simply be affirming the court of appeals on different grounds. See id. (deciding the case on the narrower issue of whether the law is settled). Because no relief is due to McReynolds even under his own framework, this case does not present an issue for this Court's review.

9

# C. McReynolds' other claim of ineffective assistance of counsel does not warrant this Court's review.

Finally, McReynolds asks this Court to determine that he is entitled to a *Machner<sup>5</sup>* hearing on his ineffective assistance claims. The premise for his ineffective assistance claim (not related to the alleged vouching evidence) is that counsel performed deficiently for failing to object to alleged character evidence. On that issue, the court of appeals correctly applied Strickland<sup>6</sup> to hold that McReynolds suffered no prejudice based on counsel's alleged deficiency. *McReynolds*, slip op.,  $\P\P40-43$ . The court first noted that McReynolds' prejudice argument was undeveloped, "spanning only one short paragraph." Id.  $\P$  42. The court, looking at the totality of the evidence at trial, "disagree[d with McReynolds] that the State's case could be categorized as weak." Id. As the court of appeals correctly noted, "[t]he jury heard consistent testimony from the confidential informant, Ranallo, and other officers, and that testimony was also consistent with the video and audio evidence presented." Id. Accordingly, there was not a reasonable probability of a different result but-for counsel's deficient performance, and McReynolds' ineffective assistance claim failed. Id. ¶ 43.7

McReynolds does not identify any misapplication of ineffective assistance case law by the court of appeals. Rather, he relies on the same "weaknesses" in the State's case that the court of appeals already rejected, and he simply disagrees

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